RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jun 19, 2014, 4:50 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 33140-7-III

1	CRF
RECE	I <u>VED</u> BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SPOKANE VALLEY,

Respondent,

VS.

BRIAN DIRKS, CHRISTINE DIRKS, MARESSA DIRKS AND CA-WA CORP, a California Corporation doing business as HOLLY WOOD EROTIQUE BOUTIQUE,

Appellants.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Judgment in the Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 12-2-01887-6 Honorable Annette Plese, Presiding

Gilbert H. Levy, Attorney for Appellants Suite 330 Market Place One 2003 Western Avenue Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 443-0670

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No 1: The Trial Court Erred in Its determination that Appellants did not have standing to challenge the constitutionality of SVMC Chapter 5.10.

Issue related to Assignment of Error No. 1: Did the Trial Court err in its determination that Appellants did not have standing to challenge SVMC Chapter 5.10 where Respondent's abatement action is based on the Appellants' alleged non-compliance with that Chapter and where the Appellants are entitled to surrogate standing under the First Amendment over breadth doctrine.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The trial court committed error in its determination that Chapters 5.10 is applicable to Defendant CAWA's business.

Issue related to Assignment of Error No. 2: Does the definition of "adult entertainment establishment" include businesses wherein a movie is displayed in area which accommodates multiple patrons and the device that exhibits or displays the movie is not located in the viewing area.

Assignment of Error No. 3: The Trial Court erred denying the Appellants' challenge to the constitutionality of SVMC Chapter 5.10.

Issue No. 1 related to Assignment of Error No. 3: Is the definition of "adult entertainment establishment" in Chapter 5.10 unconstitutionally vague.

Issue No. 2 related to Assignment of Error No. 2: Is SVMC Chapter 5.10 overbroad and an invalid time place and manner restriction under the First and Fourteenth Amendment in that applies on its face to businesses not shown to generate adverse secondary effects?

Issue No. 3 related to Assignment of Error No. 3: Is SVMC Chapter 5.10 an impermissible prior restraint in violation of the First Amendment and Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution in that it amounts to absolute ban on theaters which show sexually explicit movies?

Assignment of Error No. 4: the Trial Court erred in its determination that CAWA's business is not a lawful non-conforming use under the applicable provisions of the Spokane Valley Municipal Code.

Issue related to Assignment of Error No. 4: Was CAWA's businesses a lawful use prior to the time that the City adopted SVMC Chapter 19.80.

Assignment of Error No. 5: Did the Trial Court commit error in granting the City's Motion for Summary Judgment with Respect to the Defendant's Counterclaim that Chapter 19.80 of the Spokane Valley Municipal Code is unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution.

Issue No. 1 Related to Assignment of Error No. 5: Was the City entitled to summary judgment with respect to Appellants' claim that Chapter 19.80 is unconstitutional because it applies on its face to businesses not shown to generate adverse secondary effects?

Issue No. 2 Related to Assignment of Error No. 5: Were there genuine issues of material fact as to whether Chapter 19.80 provides reasonable alternative channels of communication such that it was improper for the Trial Court to grant summary judgment?

Issue No. 3 Related to Assignment of Error No. 5: Were there genuine issues of material fact as to whether Chapter 19.80 is a prior restraint in violation of Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution such that it was improper for the Trial Court to grant summary judgment?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Procedure

Respondent City of Spokane Valley, (hereinafter "Plaintiff" or the "City"), filed a complaint for declaration of public nuisance and warrant of abatement. CP 1-8. Appellants, (hereinafter the "Defendants"), answered the complaint and filed counterclaims under the Civil Rights Act alleging that Spokane Valley Municipal Code, (hereinafter "SVMC"), Chapters 5.10 and 19.80 are unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution. CP 15-17, 18-33. Defendants filed amended answers and counterclaims, in which they included an additional counterclaim seeking declaratory judgment that the mini theatres are a lawful non-conforming use under the Spokane Valley Zoning Code. CP 843-848.

The City filed a motion for declaration of public nuisance. CP 644-672. In the motion, the City alleged that SVMC Chapter 5.10 was applicable to the Defendants' business and that the business was a public nuisance because it failed to secure a license as required by that provision. Id. Defendants filed an opposition to the Motion for Public Nuisance and a Cross Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. CP 648-672. In their

¹ The abbreviation "CP" refers to the Clerk's Papers.

Opposition and Cross Motion, the Defendants alleged that Chapter 5.10 was inapplicable to the business in question or in the alternative that Chapter 5.10 was unconstitutional under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 5 of the Washington Constitution. Id. Following argument, the Trial Court issued a decision granting the City's Motion for Declaration of Public Nuisance and denying the Defendants' Cross Motion. CP 3902-3911. In its decision, the Trial Court held that the Defendants did not have standing to challenge the constitutionality of Chapter 5.10. Id. However, the Trial Court withheld action on the request for a warrant of abatement pending a decision on the constitutionality of Chapter 19.80. Id.

The City filed a motion for summary judgment seeking a determination that Chapter 19.80 is constitutional. CP 4139-4153.

Defendants opposed the City's Motion arguing that the ordinance is unconstitutional under the federal and state constitutions and that there are genuine issues of material fact that precluded summary judgment. CP 4154-4181. Following argument, the Trial Court granted the City's motion for summary judgment and issued a warrant of abatement. CP 4481-4485. Defendants filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 4486-4462. The Trial Court issued an order staying enforcement of the judgment pending appeal. CP 4503-4504.

B. Statement of Facts

Defendant CAWA CORP, (hereinafter "CAWA"), operates a business at 9611 E. Sprague, Spokane Valley, Washington. CP 673. The business was formerly operated by World Wide Video of Washington, Inc. Id. CP World Wide Video of Washington, Inc. was dissolved in 2006 and CAWA CORP then took over the business. Id. at 673, 674. The business name remains the same and the format is unchanged. Id. CAWA leases the premises from members of the Dirks family, who own the property. Id. at 674.

The business name is Hollywood Erotique Boutique. CP 674. The business has a retail component in which it sells and rents DVD's, magazines and novelties, lingerie and shoes. Id. The majority of the DVD's and magazines are of a sexually explicit nature. Id. The business also features six mini theatres which allow audience members to watch sexually oriented movies in DVD format. Id. The movies are shown in separate rooms, which are configured as mini theatres. Id. Different movies are played simultaneously in each of the theatres. Id. The business occupies a two story building. Id. The ground floor of the business is subdivided into separate rooms. Id. The main room contains a counter where the clerk/manager is stationed and where customers may make purchases or pay an entrance fee for the mini theaters. Id. The other

rooms on the ground floor contain retail items on shelves or display racks.

Id. There is also a single mini theater on the main floor of the building.

Id.

There are five mini theaters located on the second level of the building. Id. at 674. They are contained in separate rooms situated along a common aisle. Id. Each of the mini theaters has seating for up to ten patrons and contains a screen for viewing movies, which are continuously displayed in each room. Id. The screen in each room is connected by a cable to a DVD player. Id. The DVD players are located behind the clerk's counter downstairs in the main room. Id. Several of the DVD players run only a single movie at a time in which case the clerk/manger changes the DVD at the end of each movie. Id. Several of the DVD players are capable of playing multiple movies without the necessity of changing them at the end of each movie. Id. Patrons are allowed to enter the mini theatres by paying a single entrance fee of \$12.00. Id. at 674, 675. Payment of the entrance fee entitles a patron to view the movies displayed in any one of the mini theatres for up to four hours. Id. at 675. During the four hour period a patron can move from theater to theater. Id. Patrons exercise no control over what movie is being played and do not access the DVD players. Id. World Wide Video began operating the business at 9611 East Sprague in 1999. Id. The mini theaters as described above were installed in 2002 and have operated continuously since that time. Id. There are two other retail businesses in Spokane Valley that deal in sexually explicit merchandise. Id. Neither of these businesses has both a retail component and mini theatres. Id. CAWA's business is the only business of its kind in the City. Id.

CAWA's mini theatres are distinguishable from businesses that are commonly known as "peep shows". CP 675. Peep shows are movie booths intended to accommodate one patron at a time. Id. Each booth typically contains a screen and a coin or token operated device which enables the viewer to view a sexually explicit movie by inserting a token or coin into the device. Id. There are several major differences between CAWA's business at 9611 E. Sprague and what are commonly known as peep shows. First, the mini theaters are multiple occupant rooms which may accommodate up to 10 persons at a time. Id. at 676. Second, entire feature length movies are shown in each of the mini theaters as opposed to several minutes of viewing upon insertion of a coin or token. Id. Third, there is no "device" contained within the viewing area; rather the image is being transmitted from a remote DVD player located at the clerk's station. Id. Fourth, patrons access the entertainment by paying a single admission price rather by inserting a coin or token into a machine. Id. Fifth, patrons

may choose to enter a particular theater but exercise no control over the movie being shown. <u>Id</u>.

Spokane Valley was incorporated on March 31, 2003. CP 689.

Prior to that time, the business at 9611 E. Sprague was located in unincorporated Spokane County. CP 25. In 1999, the business was located in a B3 zone. Id. Under the County's Zoning Code, businesses defined therein as "adult bookstores" and "adult entertainment establishments" were permitted to located in the B3 zone, subject to set back requirements from certain enumerated zones and uses. CP 25, 183-185. Spokane County amended its zoning ordinances in September 1999. CP136-150. Prior to the Amendment, the County's Zoning Code defined an "adult entertainment establishment" as:

An enclosed building, or any portion thereof, used for presenting performances, activities, or material or relating to, "specified sexual activities" or specified anatomical areas as defined in this section, for observation by patrons therein; Provided, however, that a motion picture theater shall be considered an adult entertainment establishment if the preponderance of the films presented is distinguished or characterized by an emphasis on the depicting or describing of "specified sexual activities" or "specified anatomical areas"; provided further, however, that a hotel or motel shall not be considered an adult entertainment establishment merely because it provides closed circuit television programming in its rooms for registered guests.

CP 60.

The September 1999 Amendment to the Spokane County Code deleted the above quoted definition and instead defined "adult entertainment establishment" as "an establishment defined pursuant to Chapter 7.80 of the Spokane County Code". CP 146. The Amendment also deleted the definition of "adult bookstore" and contained a new definition for businesses defined therein as an "adult retail use establishments". Id. The amendment provided that, "Any adult retail use establishment located within the unincorporated areas of Spokane County on [insert date of adoption] which is made a nonconforming use by amendments to this Code pursuant to Resolution [insert resolution number] shall be terminated within five (5) years." CP 150.²

The Code contained no amortization provision applicable to "adult entertainment establishments", which were treated the same as other non-conforming uses. CP 1520.

Spokane County adopted Chapter 7.80 of its Business License

Code in 1997. CP 233-295. The Chapter contains various licensing
requirements and restrictions applicable to businesses defined therein as

² This is section comprises what is commonly known as an "amortization" provision. See, for example, *Northend Cinema, Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 90 Wash. 2d 709, 565 P. 2d 1153 (1978). Amortization provisions are typically contained in adult entertainment ordinances and provide that businesses made non-conforming by the ordinance are required to terminate within a certain period of time.

"adult entertainment establishments". Section 7.80.040 contains the following definitions:

"Adult entertainment establishment" collectively refers to adult arcade establishments and live adult entertainment establishments, as defined herein.

"Adult arcade establishment" means a commercial premises to which a member of the public is invited or admitted and where adult arcade stations, boots, or devices are used to exhibit or display a graphic picture, view, film, videotape, or digital display of specified sexual activity, or live adult entertainment in a booth setting to a member of the public on a regular basis or as a substantial part of the premises activity.

"Adult arcade device" sometimes known as "panoram", "preview", "picture arcade," "adult arcade," or "peep show," means any device which for payment of a fee, membership fee, or other charge, is used to exhibit or display a graphic picture, view, film, videotape, or digital display of specified sexual activity, or live adult entertainment in a booth setting. All such devices are denominated under this chapter by the tem "adult arcade device". The term "adult arcade device as used in this chapter does not include other games which employ pictures, views, or video displays, or gambling devices which do not exhibit or display, adult entertainment.

"Adult arcade station" or "booth" means an enclosure where a patron, member, or customer would ordinarily be positioned while using an adult arcade device or viewing a live adult entertainment performance, exhibition, or dance in a booth. Adult arcade station or booth refers to the area in which an adult arcade device is located and from which the graphic picture, view, film, videotape, digital display of sexual activity, or live adult entertainment is to be viewed.

These terms do not mean such an enclosure that is a private office used by an owner, manager or person employed on the premises for attending the tasks of his or her employment, if the enclosure is not held out to any member of the public for use, hire, or for a fee for the purpose of viewing the entertainment provided by the arcade device or live adult entertainment, and not open to any person other than employees.

CP 214, 242. (Emphasis supplied).

At the time of its incorporation in 2003, Spokane Valley adopted Chapter 7.80 of the County's Business license code. CP 234, 235. The Chapter was then codified as Spokane Valley Municipal Code Chapter 5.10. Id. The City also adopted the County's Zoning Ordinances, including the five year amortization provision for "adult retail use establishments." CP 231, 695, 738. In September 2003, the Spokane Valley City Council amended its Zoning Code to eliminate the five year amortization provision for "adult retail use establishments". CP 702-704. Spokane Valley never adopted an amortization provision for "Adult Entertainment Establishments". Id. Under the Spokane Valley Zoning Code, "adult retail use establishments" and "adult entertainment establishments" which were originally lawful but later became nonconforming, are treated the same as other non-conforming uses. Id.

Spokane Valley Municipal Code Section 19.20.060(A) (1) defines a non-conforming use as:

Any use that does not conform with the present regulations of the zoning district in which it is located shall be deemed a non-conforming use if it was in existence and in continuous and lawful operation prior to the adoption of these regulations.

CP 791.

Subsection (B)(1) of SVMC 19.20.060 provides in part:

The lawful use of land at the time of passage of this code, or any amendments hereto, may be continued, unless the use is discontinued or abandoned for a period of 12 consecutive months.

CP 791, 7912.

In 2007, Spokane Valley adopted Municipal Code Chapter 19.80. CP 704, 705, 759-768.³ Chapter 19.80 was intended to replace the provisions of the adult entertainment zoning ordinance that had been adopted previously. Id.

Under Chapter 19.80, "adult entertainment uses" can only locate in the Community Commercial and Regional Commercial zones. SVMC 19.80.030(A). They must be set back one thousand feet from the nearest property line of certain enumerated uses, including public libraries, public playgrounds and parks, public or private schools, nursery schools, day

³ The Court is requested to take judicial notice of the current version of Chapter 19.80 and Appendix A to the Spokane Valley Zoning Code which contains the definitions applicable to "adult entertainment establishments". These are attached to this brief as Appendices A and B.

care centers, churches, convents, monasteries, synagogues, and other adult uses. SVMC 19.80.030(B). They must also be set back one thousand feet from an "urban growth area" and certain enumerated zones. SVMC 19.80.030(C). The definitions applicable to "adult entertainment establishments" in Appendix A are the same as those contained in the Spokane County Licensing Ordinance. CP 762, 763.

In 2010, Spokane Valley adopted Ordinance 10-006, which replaced the previous Chapter 5.10 of the licensing code with a new Chapter 5.10, dealing with licensing and regulation of Adult Entertainment Establishments. CP 862. The legislative record preceding the City Council's adoption of Ordinance 10-006 consisted of: (1) Secondary effects studies conducted by other municipalities: (2) Reported court decisions from the State of Washington dealing with the constitutionality of local ordinances governing peep shows and live enter establishments; (3) Police reports from other municipalities dealing with sexual conduct that had taken place in peep shows; (4) Other materials pertaining to the legislative history of Ordinance 10-006, which included police reports of sexual conduct in the theatres at 9611 E. Sprague. CP 3143-3859

⁴ The Court is requested to take judicial notice of the current version of Chapter 5.10, a copy of which is attached to this brief as Appendix C.

As amended by Ordinance 10-006, Section 5.10.010 of the Spokane Valley Municipal Code contains the following definitions:

"Adult arcade establishment" means a commercial premises, or portion of any premises, to which a member of the public is invited or admitted and where adult arcade stations or adult arcade devices are used to exhibit or display a graphic picture, view, film, videotape, or digital display of specified sexual activities or sexual conduct to a member of the public on a regular basis or as a substantial part of the premises activity.

"Adult arcade device", sometimes also known as "panoram" "preview," "picture arcade," "adult arcade," or "peep show," means any device which, for payment of a fee, membership fee or other charge, is used to display a graphic picture, view, film, videotape, or digital display of specified sexual activities or sexual conduct. All such devices are denominated under this chapter by the term "adult arcade device." The term "adult arcade device" as used in this chapter does not include games which employ pictures, views or video displays or gambling devices which do not exhibit or display adult entertainment.

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