RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Aug 29, 2014, 2:59 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 33140-7-III

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRIAN DIRKS, CHRISTINE DIRKS, MARESSA DIRKS and CA-WA CORP, a California corporation doing business as HOLLYWOOD EROTIQUE BOUTIQUE,

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF SPOKANE VALLEY, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF SPOKANE VALLEY

Kenneth W. Harper Menke Jackson Beyer, LLP Attorneys for Respondent City of Spokane Valley

807 North 39th Avenue Yakima, WA 98902 (509) 575-0313 Phone (509) 575-0351 Fax

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

Courts will also consider "objective indicators of intent" beyond mere statements of purpose. *Id.* This requires consideration of the materials that were before the legislative body when it enacted the regulations.

The record before the City Council prior to enactment of the zoning code can be found at CP 889-3142. The record relating to the adoption of

entertainment devices, premises and personnel of adult entertainment establishments. The provisions of this chapter have neither the purpose nor effect of imposing a limitation or restriction on the content of any constitutionally protected sexually oriented or explicit communicative materials, or communicative performances." CP 342.

the licensing regulations is at CP 3144-3859. Both show that the City acted on a concern about secondary effects as opposed to any consideration of the content of any protected expression.

The record includes indices listing: studies conducted in other cities; relevant recent court decisions; items of personal testimony; police reports; and health reports. CP 890; 3146. The record also includes materials generated directly by the County and the City. CP 891-907; 3680-3695. With respect to this last category, record evidence includes instances of masturbation within adult entertainment establishments, including involving multiple occupants in each viewing area (CP 3682-3683); the presence of unlawful alcoholic beverages in the viewing areas (CP 3683); further instances of multiple-occupant masturbation (CP 3684-3685; 3689-3690; 3692-3693); observations of illegal drug use (CP 3692); and observations of prostitution. *Id*.

CAWA does not argue that the record indicates a motive to reduce protected speech. CAWA has no evidence that the local governments did not rely on evidence "reasonably believed to be relevant." Because the record "compares favorably" with the evidence presented in other cases, precedent "commands that [the Court] should not stray from a deferential standard in these contexts, even when First Amendment rights are implicated through secondary effects." *Dream Palace v. County of* Maricopa, 384 F.3d 990, 1015 (9th Cir. 2004) (quotation omitted); *see also* World Wide Video of Washington, 368 F.3d at 1190 n.4.

D. Intermediate scrutiny applied.

To apply intermediate scrutiny, *Renton* turns to analysis of whether the regulation "is designed to serve a substantial government interest, is narrowly tailored to serve that interest, and does not unreasonably limit alternative avenues of communication." *Ctr. for Fair Pub. Policy v. Maricopa County*, 336 F.3d 1153, 1166 (9th Cir. 2003), *cert. denied*, 541 U.S. 973 (2004).

1. Substantial government interest.

The "substantial government interest" prong is readily satisfied. Courts have found that evidence of pornographic litter and public lewdness, standing alone, "was sufficient to satisfy the 'very little' evidence standard of *Alameda Books*." *World Wide Video of Washington*, 368 F.3d at 1195 (citation omitted). On this topic, "anecdotal evidence and reported experience can be as telling as statistical data and can serve as a legitimate basis for finding negative secondary effects...." *Id*. 1196-1197 (quotation omitted).

Courts have found a substantial interest unrelated to expression in the presence of "rampant masturbation at a commercial property open to the public" because this "may rationally trigger sanitation concerns and impair the right of other patrons to view their materials or read the accompanying articles in peace." *Fantasyland Video*, 505 F.3d at 1003. Virtually every court considering the matter has found that reducing unlawful public sexual activity is a proper concern associated with regulation of sexually oriented businesses. *See Ctr. for Fair Pub. Policy*, 336 F.3d at 1166 (citing numerous cases). The "elimination of pornographic litter, by itself, also represents a substantial governmental interest, especially as concerns protection of minors." *World Wide Video of Washington*, 368 F.3d at 1195.

To satisfy this test, the government may rely on both evidence preceding and, for rebuttal, evidence following enactment of the relevant regulations. *Alameda Books*, 535 U.S. at 441.

Evidence of public sexual activity at HEB is copious. Aside from instances mentioned above, the record contains indications of drug use and pornographic litter. CP 1267-1277. Neighboring business owners have observed sexual conduct in vehicles parked adjacent to HEB, as well as discarded "and contaminated" "toys" purchased from HEB, together with a noted "increase in criminal behavior since the start up of business of Hollywood." CP 1272. Female employees of adjacent businesses have had cause to feel threatened, particularly when arriving at work early or late in the day. *Id.* Used condoms have been found in the parking lots of adjacent

businesses. CP 1274. Other nearby persons have observed "video covers with explicit pictures of what the video's [sic] about." CP 1276.

The secondary effects with which the City was legitimately concerned have indeed been occurring both inside and outside of the HEB building.

2. Narrowly tailored.

The second prong of intermediate scrutiny asks whether the regulation is "narrowly tailored" to serve the purported government interest. *Fantasyland Video*, 505 F.3d at 1001.

This test requires demonstrating that the "regulation promotes a substantial government interest that would be achieved less effectively absent the regulation and the means chosen are not substantially broader than necessary." *Fantasyland Video*, 505 F.3d at 1004 (quoting *Ward v. Rock Against Racism*, 491 U.S. 781, 799-800 (1989)). This test specifically disavows any requirement of showing that less drastic measures can be posited. *Fantasyland Video*, 505 F.3d at 1004. Courts have consistently applied a low threshold for finding this requirement satisfied. *Dream Palace*, 384 F.3d at 1016; *World Wide Video of Washington*, 368 F.3d at 1197 ("...it is self-evident that Spokane's asserted interest would be achieved less effectively absent the ordinances.").

CAWA disputes this element of *Renton* as applied to both the licensing regulation and the zoning regulation. Br. 37-39; 60-61. But CAWA does not address the extensive case law establishing a minimal standard for this review. CAWA ignores the settled formulation that finds this test satisfied when the stated purpose would be achieved less effectively absent the regulation and the means chosen are not substantially broader than necessary to achieve that purpose. Instead of engaging the relevant standard, CAWA cites two unrelated cases.

First, CAWA cites *Comite de Jornaleros de Redondo Beach v. City of Redondo Beach*, 757 F.3d 936 (9th Cir. 2011). CAWA implies that *Comite de Jornaleros* has something to do with *Renton* and sexually oriented businesses. But *Comite de Jornaleros* dealt solely with local ordinances regulating panhandling and solicitation. *Comite de Jornaleros*, 657 F.3d at 940. Day-laborers were restricted from contacting potential employers while the laborers were standing on public sidewalks. *Id.* at 941. The decision contains no reference to *Renton*. The speech at issue there occurred on public sidewalks and was of an entirely different kind. *Id.* at 945; *compare Young*, 427 U.S. at 61 (distinguishing types of speech and degrees of First Amendment protection).

CAWA's second citation on this point is *World Wide Video, Inc. v. City of Tukwila*, 117 Wn.2d 382, 816 P.2d 18 (1991). In *World Wide Video,* this Court found that Tukwila's regulation of adult businesses that sold "take-home" merchandise was unsupportable because Tukwila failed to show that such businesses "have the same harmful secondary effects traditionally associated with adult movie theaters and peep shows...." *World Wide Video*, 117 Wn.2d at 389.

Here, the City's regulations distinguish adult retail sales from adult entertainment establishments. *Compare* SVMC 5.10.010 (definition of "adult entertainment establishment") with SVMC Appendix A (definition of "adult retail use establishment."). CP 319; 4243. No license is required for adult merchandise sales and only the adult entertainment establishment portion of HEB's business is at issue. CP 4497-4499. The Tukwila decision upheld the local regulations that governed licensing for adult movie theaters and peep shows. *Id.* at 394. Later cases have recognized this distinction. *See, e.g., Ino Ino, Inc. v. City of Bellevue*, 132 Wn.2d 103, 136, 937 P.2d 154 (1997) (distinction between movie theaters and retail sales); *World Wide Video of Washington, Inc. v. City of Spokane*, 227 F. Supp. 2d. 1143, 1165 (E.D. Wash. 2002), *aff'd*, 368 F.3d 1168 (9th Cir. 2004) (limitation of *World Wide Video* to adult retail sales).

CAWA pursues its narrow tailoring argument by criticizing the relationship between the City's regulations and the local legislative record. CAWA levels this criticism equally against the licensing code and the zoning code. Br. 38-39; 60-61. CAWA claims that the legislative record does not show adverse secondary effects associated with: 1) ordinary movie theaters in which sexually oriented content is not the predominant theme of the movie; and 2) hotels and motels that provide sexually oriented movies to their guests.³

First, CAWA's argument is wrong because it ignores the text of the relevant ordinances. The licensing regulation is applicable to HEB because it applies to sexually oriented businesses that use any device to exhibit or display in an enclosure graphic sexual images to a member of the public on a regular basis or as a substantial part of the premises' activity. SVMC 5.10.010. Ordinary movie theaters (e.g., multiplexes) are not sexually oriented businesses and do not exhibit or display graphic sexual images on a regular basis or as a substantial part of the premises' activity. The zoning code definition for a movie "theater" is unconnected to the display of graphic sexual images. *See* definitions at Appendix A hereto. Because "theater" is separately defined, and because the term "theater" is omitted from the City's adult entertainment establishment code, CAWA is wrong to claim that the City has indiscriminately failed to narrowly tailor the applicability of its adult entertainment establishment regulations. No ordinary movie theater falls under this regulatory scheme. This Court has

³ CAWA's narrowly tailored argument is probably misplaced. CAWA's point has more to do with doctrines of overbreadth and vagueness, addressed below.

found the "general nature of a conventional motion picture theater is so well known as to be properly the subject of judicial notice." *Bitts, Inc. v. Seattle*, 86 Wn.2d 395, 398, 544 P.2d 1242 (1976).

CAWA claims that the regulations might apply to hotels and motels. But the City's zoning code also provides a specific definition for "hotel/motel." *See* definitions at Appendix A hereto. To constitute a hotel or motel, a building must offer guest rooms for lodging in exchange for compensation. *Id.* The adult entertainment operations at HEB do not meet this definition. The definition of hotel and motel has distinguishing characteristics that are not mutually shared with a business like HEB. Hotels and motels are not places held out to the public for the purpose of viewing graphic sexual images.

Second, CAWA is wrong as a matter of law. Courts have never endorsed a stringent First Amendment inquiry into the correlation between an ordinance and its legislative record regarding secondary effects. The Ninth Circuit upheld regulations even though the appellant could identify certain forms of adult entertainment performance that met the applicable regulatory definition but which were not tied to the secondary effects the regulations were designed to address. *Gammoh*, 395 F.3d at 1121. There was "no realistic danger that the statute itself will significantly compromise recognized First Amendment protections of parties not before the Court. If

an overbroad application of the ordinance exists, it is insubstantial when judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate sweep." *Id.* at 1122 (citation and quotation omitted).

A similar argument failed in *World Wide Video of Washington*, where a challenge was made to Spokane's use of studies that failed to show that businesses possessing a de minimis quantity of sexually explicit materials would cause the same degree of adverse secondary effects as would businesses dedicating a "significant or substantial" portion of trade in such materials. *World Wide Video of Washington*, 368 F.3d at 1198-1199. The Ninth Circuit noted that "cases directly addressing the phrase 'significant or substantial' in this context have upheld its validity." *Id.* at 1198. It is unnecessary for a city's legislative record to correspond to the exact activity that it wishes to regulate: "the City is only required to rely on evidence reasonably believed to be relevant to the problem being addressed." *Gammoh*, 395 F.3d at 1127. (quotation omitted).

CAWA's basic premise on its narrowly tailored argument is mistaken. A city's legitimate interest in preserving the quality of urban life "must be accorded high respect" which prohibits "an unnecessarily rigid burden of proof" regarding the relationship of secondary effects and the relevant legislative record. *Renton*, 475 U.S. at 41-42; *see also Northend Cinema, Inc. v. Seattle*, 90 Wn.2d 709, 718, 585 P.2d 1153 (1978); *Alameda* *Books*, 535 U.S. at 439; *N.W. Enter. Inc. v. FTU Inc.*, 352 F.3d 162, 180 (5th Cir. 2003), *cert. denied*, 543 U.S. 958 (2004) (common sense, not empirical proof, is sufficient).

Third, CAWA's argument fails because of a lack of contrary evidence on summary judgment. CAWA might have attempted to discredit the rationale of the City in adopting the regulations. But in order to shift the evidentiary burden back to the City regarding the suitability of the legislative record, CAWA was required to "succeed in casting direct doubt" on the rationale behind the ordinances with its own "actual and convincing evidence." *World Wide Video of Washington*, 368 F.3d at 1195 (quotation omitted). CAWA never supplied any summary judgment evidence relating to the correlation between the City's record and the intended suppression of adverse secondary effects.

E. There is no unconstitutional overbreadth.

Despite CAWA's comingling of overbreadth and narrow tailoring, courts typically treat overbreadth as a separate inquiry distinct from intermediate scrutiny under *Renton*. CAWA's standing to raise constitutional arguments relating to overbreadth and vagueness is debatable. Washington and federal courts have adopted special rules of standing for overbreadth claims in the First Amendment context. The test probably does not differ between the jurisdictions. *O'Day v. King County*, 109 Wn.2d 796, 803, 749 P.2d 142 (1988) (citing *Broadrick v. Oklahoma*, 413 U.S. 601 (1973)). Both Washington and federal cases would deny CAWA standing for vagueness purposes. *Northend Cinema*, 90 Wn.2d at 716; *World Wide Video of Washington*, 227 F. Supp. 2d. at 1163 n.15. This brief assumes, without conceding, that CAWA has standing as to both theories.

Whether as a matter of standing or the merits -- the cases are sometimes unclear⁴ -- overbreadth requires showing a deterrent effect on legitimate expression that is "both real and substantial," and that the statute cannot be "readily subject to a narrowing construction by the state courts." *Young*, 427 U.S. at 60; *State v. Talley*, 122 Wn.2d 192, 210, 858 P.2d 217 (1993). CAWA has never shown how any deterrent effect of Ch. 5.10 SVMC on legitimate expression is "both real and substantial." CAWA speculates that conventional movie theaters and hotels/motels might be required to obtain adult entertainment licenses. There is no evidence that the ordinance has been (or might be) applied in this way.

There is no indication that the City would fail to recognize that conventional movie theaters (defined by the zoning code in a manner exclusive of adult entertainment establishments) are not within the coverage of Ch. 5.10 SVMC. Additional assurances against an overbreadth problem

⁴ Northend Cinema suggests that CAWA's overbreadth claim should be denied for lack of standing because of CAWA's failure to demonstrate "real and substantial" overbreadth. Northend Cinema, 90 Wn.2d at 716-717.

can be found in the "dramatic works" exemption for non-obscene material. SVMC 5.10.080(B)(1). A "dramatic works" exception has twice been accepted by this Court as an appropriate safeguard against overbreadth. *O'Day*, 109 Wn.2d at 806-807; *Ino Ino*, 132 Wn.2d at 137-138. CAWA relies upon the same cases distinguished above (*Comite de Jornaleros* and *World Wide Video v. Tukwila*). Br. 38-39.

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